1995

Walter Semiday, Angel Santiago, Humberto  
Bardales, and Rosa Mazariegos v. Jeanette R.  
Lynton, Dot Adventures, Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated (1953) §78-2-2.3(j). The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to assignment from the Supreme Court. Utah Code Annotated (1953) §78-2a-2(k).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

#### Issues:

A. Whether the trial court properly held that no reasonable person could find for the Plaintiffs on their claims for Wrongful Detention, Assault, Battery, False Imprisonment, Intentional and Reckless Infliction of Emotional Distress, and Invasion of Privacy, where the defendants had required the plaintiffs and some thirty-five co-workers to leave their normal work stations, congregate in the company lunch area, some thirty feet from the nearest door, wait there for a period exceeding one hour, until each employee had been taken individually to a company restroom and physically searched for an allegedly stolen twenty dollar bill.

B. Whether the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that because Plaintiffs had not submitted any evidence of damages of monetary or emotional damages, Defendants were entitled to Summary Judgment, where 1) the Plaintiffs had submitted their own and the affidavits of family members as evidence of actual emotional damages, as well as 2) the Report of one Expert Witness and the Affidavit of another, and where 3) the causes of action alleged were

for the intentional torts of wrongful detention, assault, battery, false imprisonment, intentional infliction of emotional distress and invasion of privacy.

Standard of Review:

The Motion for Summary Judgment is based on law, and presents a question of law, and as such should be accorded no particular deference, but be reviewed for correctness. Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). Summary Judgment is only proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. The determination of whether the moving party is entitled to a judgment is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 818 P.2d 997, 1000 (Utah 1991). The appellate court is completely free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusions. Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1038-1039, (Utah 1989). Furthermore, in determining a Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court is required to draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the party opposing the Motion for Summary Judgment. Smith v. Batchelor, 832 P.2d 467, 468 (Utah 1992).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Nature of the Case: This is a case in tort. There are multiple causes of action by multiple plaintiffs against multiple defendants. The causes of action include claims for the intentional torts of wrongful detention, assault, battery, false imprisonment,

intentional infliction of emotional distress as well as claims for reckless infliction of emotional distress and invasion of privacy.

Course of Proceedings: Plaintiffs filed this case in the Fourth District Court of Utah in October 1993, and asked for a jury trial. Defendants were served in January 1994. Defendants filed an answer. The parties began discovery. In July 1994 Defendant Lynton filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment requesting that she be found not personally liable. The Motion was briefed and argued, and the Fourth District Court, Judge Boyd Park presiding, granted Lynton's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed her from the case in August 1994. Discovery continued. In October 1994 Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims. This Motion was briefed and argued. At oral argument on this matter on February 10, 1995, the trial court requested that the Plaintiffs submit additional evidence of damages, and gave them thirty days to submit this additional proof. The trial court also gave the Defendants a reasonable amount of time to respond to the additional evidence. As requested by the trial court, the Plaintiffs prepared and submitted additional proof of damages.

After filing their response to Plaintiffs' Second Objection, Defendants also filed a Motion to Suppress the Plaintiffs' Affidavits. Plaintiffs filed an Objection to this Motion. On May 22, 1995 the trial court issued a twelve page Memorandum Decision granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on all counts. The trial court specifically chose not to rule on the Defendants' Motion to Suppress. Counsel for the Defendants summarized the trial

courts' Memorandum Decision into a three page Order. The trial court signed that order on July 14, 1995. The Plaintiffs filed their timely Notice of Appeal in the trial court on Monday, August 14, 1995.

Disposition: The trial court granted both Defendant Lynton's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court issued a twelve page Memorandum Decision on the second Motion for Summary Judgment, with the order that the Defendants prepare an Order consistent with the Memorandum.

Statement of Facts: Defendants did not submit any factual evidence of their own in support of their second Motion for Summary Judgment. Therefore, the following facts are unchallenged and, as the statement of facts by the party in opposition to Summary Judgment must be taken as true for the purposes of this Appeal. This statement of the undisputed material facts is based on the Plaintiffs' Deposition testimony and three distinct sections of the Record. These sections are the Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, Record pp. 107-99; the Plaintiffs' Affidavits in Opposition to the Defendants' Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Record pp. 397-344; and the Amended English Translations of these Affidavits, Record, pp. 457-420.

1. In August 1992 the Nevada corporation DOT Adventures acted to establish a production facility in Orem, Utah for the purpose of manufacturing and selling novelty rubber stamps.

2. Plaintiffs were all employed as workers in this facility for varying periods of time between August and December of 1992. None of the Plaintiffs remained as employees of the facility past December 31, 1992.
3. The language used on the factory floor was Spanish, and the vast majority of factory employees, including the factory manager, were Hispanic.
4. Miguelangel Esquivel (Esquivel), the factory manager, had a demonstrated pattern of verbally demeaning the factory workers with invasive and harassing statements and accusations, such as the following: "You are a bunch of thieves, robbers, ungratefults; you are talebearers because you speak badly of the company;" [You don't] pay [y]our tithing, and because of this things [go] badly in the company; [You are] wetbacks, and if immigration came they would take [you] all away; [I am] sick of people's gossip, and that [you are] a bunch of scandlemongers.
5. Esquivel habitually told the plaintiffs and other factory workers that they were a bunch of thieves, that he knew that they were stealing the stamps. He also told them that he had been endowed with the authority that the company president and sole officer, Mrs. Jeanette Lynton, had granted him to do whatever he wanted with the employees. Basing himself on the fact that many of the employees were members of the Mormon Church, he would tell the employees that they needed to pay their tithing to continue working. He also threatened them by saying that if he dismissed them from their jobs, they would

have to go to ask help from their bishops to provide food for themselves and their families.

6. Esquivel would say things to the factory workers such as "I am certain that you don't pay your tithing. I know that's why things go badly for you." He would also say "I am certain that you are a bunch of hypocrites. To my face you smile at me, but behind my back you tell tales of me, I am certain." He would accuse them of not being able to enter the temple of the church. He would accuse them of being wetbacks and say that he knew who the illegals were.
7. On at least one occasion Esquivel asked in an employment interview to see the applicant's LDS temple recommend as a purported qualification for the job.
8. However, on or around December 17, 1992, Esquivel went beyond harrassing words. On that day he gathered the approximately forty factory workers into the cafeteria area of the factory and informed them that, although he knew it was illegal, he had had enough, and was going to require them to submit to a person by person private search of their persons and belongings because a co-employee reportedly complained that someone had stolen twenty dollars from her.
9. Esquivel further stated that if anyone wanted to object, he could raise his hand, and everyone would then know who the thief was.
10. Each of the Plaintiffs was required to enter the applicable rest room with their supervisor and submit to a search of their

persons and belongings. The male supervisor was minimally invasive in his search, only requiring the men to turn out their pockets and open their wallets and lunch bags. However, the male supervisor did search the wallets.

11. The female supervisor, on the other hand, required the women to pull their blouses out of their pants or skirts and undo their bras, after which she ran her hands around their mid-ribs under their blouses. The female supervisor also picked through the women's hair with a pencil.
12. All Plaintiffs were laid off as employees of the company prior to January 1, 1993.
13. In January 1993 Defendant DOTS formally registered as a foreign corporation doing business in Utah.
14. In October 1993 the Plaintiffs in this matter filed suit for the intentional torts of assault, battery, false imprisonment, wrongful detention, intentional and reckless infliction of emotional distress and various counts of invasion of privacy.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in granting the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on all counts. The trial court erred in ruling, as a matter of law, that no reasonable jury could find in favor of the Plaintiffs, on any of their causes of action, on the uncontested facts. The trial court also erred on both factual and legal grounds in ruling that Plaintiffs had failed to establish proof of damages sufficient to permit a jury to find in their favor at trial.

Because, according to the trial court, this was the case, there was no point in permitting this case to go to the jury.

This is the first issue the Plaintiffs will address herein. In reviewing and arguing this determination, Plaintiffs will examine the law applicable to each of their causes of action, the trial court's legal findings on each cause of action, and the facts that serve as the basis for Plaintiffs' contention that a jury could reasonably find in their favor. Because the undisputed facts in the record would allow a reasonable jury to find in favor of the Plaintiffs on each of their causes of action, the trial court's ruling must be reversed, and this case must be remanded for further proceedings.

The second issue on appeal pertains to the trial court's ruling as a factual matter that Plaintiffs had submitted no evidence of damages, and thus had no cause of action. On this point the trial court erred both factually and legally. Plaintiffs did provide undisputed, legally admissible evidence of actual damages. The trial court erred when it in part ignored and in part ruled inadmissible Plaintiffs' evidence regarding their damages. Furthermore, in requiring Plaintiffs to submit proof of actual damages in order to prevail at Summary Judgment, the trial court ignored the availability under the law of both nominal and general damages in every one of Plaintiffs' causes of action.

The undisputed facts of this case are subject to multiple interpretations regarding the reasonableness and meaning of the actions of the parties. Therefore, the trial court erred in



substituting its own judgment for that of a jury. Furthermore, despite the trial court's ruling to the contrary, the Plaintiffs submitted legally admissible evidence of actual damages more than sufficient to create a disputed issue of material fact. Finally, the trial court applied the wrong legal standard of damages in refusing to allow general or nominal damages in cases of intentional tort. For each of these reasons, the trial court's ruling in this case must be reversed and remanded for trial.

#### ARGUMENT

Issue I. Whether the trial court properly held that no reasonable person could find for the Plaintiffs on their claims for Wrongful Detention, Assault, Battery, False Imprisonment, Intentional and Reckless Infliction of Emotional Distress, and Invasion of Privacy, where the defendants had required the plaintiffs and some thirty-five co-workers to leave their normal work stations, congregate in the company lunch area, some thirty feet from the nearest door, wait there for a period exceeding one hour, until each employee had been taken individually to a company restroom and physically searched for an allegedly stolen twenty dollar bill.

The primary issue on appeal in this case is fairly simple. With the exception of the question of actual damages, to be dealt with under Issue II, there are no material disputed facts. In dismissing most of the causes of action the trial judge made reference to the correct standard of law. But Summary Judgment dismissing each of the Plaintiffs' eight separate causes of action was entirely inappropriate in this case because the trial court, rather than submit the case to a jury, substituted his own judgment on the determining issues found in the grey area between fact and law, often called mixed issues of fact and law. It is a settled

principle that, in determining whether there are material disputed facts, the facts and *all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom* must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Smith v. Batchelor, 832 P.2d 467, 468 (Utah 1992) [emphasis added].

In granting Summary Judgment for the Defendants, the trial court either completely ignored this principle, or determined that in his own judgment, no reasonable jury could possibly rule in favor of the Plaintiffs on any of their causes of action. In ruling this way, the trial court clearly erred, and thus this case should be reversed and remanded. In order to examine more particularly precisely how the trial court erred in ruling as he did on each of the Plaintiffs' causes of action, the following subsections of this brief will examine the supporting facts and reasonable inferences that might support a ruling in favor of the Plaintiffs on each of their causes of action.

**Wrongful Detention.** Plaintiffs' first cause of action is for Wrongful Detention. Wrongful detention is a civil cause of action, based on the crime of unlawful detention. The elements of the tort of wrongful detention are found in Utah Code Annotated (1953) §76-5-304(1) and are the **knowing, unlawful, restraint of a person that interferes substantially with his liberty**. The following undisputed facts are in the record and would support a finding for the Plaintiffs on this cause of action.

As stated in the undisputed facts section above, the Plaintiffs, along with more than 35 of their co-workers, were required by Defendant Esquivel, the factory manager, to leave their

work stations and gather in the factory cafeteria area, some thirty feet from the closest door. Then the Plaintiffs were informed that because a co-worker had alleged the theft of a twenty dollar bill, none of the workers would be permitted to leave the cafeteria area until each worker had been personally searched by his or her supervisor. Defendant Esquivel informed the workers that they would be required to enter the factory bathrooms one by one, where they would be searched. (Bardales Deposition, p.23; Record p. 447).

Defendant Esquivel also stated that he knew that what he was going to do was illegal, but that he didn't care.<sup>1</sup> Finally, Defendant Esquivel stated that if any of the workers wanted to object, they could raise their hand, and then everyone would know who the thief was.<sup>2</sup>

By virtue of his own admission to the workers, it has been established that Esquivel knew his actions were illegal. Therefore, the specific remaining elements of the tort are those the trial court focussed on in its Memorandum Decision (Record, pp. 685-696).<sup>3</sup> Specifically, the trial court found that plaintiffs could not prevail against the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment because

---

<sup>1</sup> Semiday Deposition, pp. 41; 44; Bardales Deposition, p. 23; Record, pp. 452 and 439.

<sup>2</sup> Record, pp. 439 and 447.

<sup>3</sup> Although under normal circumstances citation to the final Order would be more appropriate, where, as in this case, that Order summarizes in three pages the trial court's twelve page Memorandum Decision, examples of the trial court's legal and factual reasoning will be taken from the Memorandum Decision, as it is a more complete record.

they had not proven that defendants substantially interfered with plaintiffs' liberty because the plaintiffs knew the location of an exit and made no attempt to leave. (Record, p. 689).

The trial court held that as a matter of law, the Plaintiffs' liberty was not substantially interfered with because they could have walked out of the plant at any time. However, the Utah statute that provides the elements of the crime of unlawful detention, the criminal parallel to the tort of wrongful detention, does not require that there be no avenue of escape.<sup>4</sup> Rather, it simply requires that the Defendant substantially interfere with the Plaintiffs' liberty to act on their own desires. In this case a reasonable presumption would be that the Plaintiffs' desired simply to do the job they had been hired to do, and go home at the end of the day. Regardless of the fact that the defendants could possibly have walked out of the factory at any time, a reasonable jury could still find that the Defendants substantially interfered with the Plaintiffs' liberty to do the job for which they were hired.

The trial court's holding that the Plaintiffs were not wrongfully detained because they knew where the door was and did not

---

<sup>4</sup> Although not controlling, the case of Orem City v. Fillmore, (Case # 93 10 0350) is instructive regarding the normal interpretation of this statute in criminal cases. In that case, a Utah Fourth Circuit case involving the crime of Unlawful Detention, the Defendant prevented someone else from backing out of a parking space by intentionally placing his car behind the parked car. Even though the individual in the car was in no way prevented from getting out and walking away, the Defendant was convicted of this crime on June 7, 1993.

walk out of that door ignores the reasonable presumption, based both on Esquivel's statements when he ordered the search and on the previous threatening statements he had made to the factory workers that, had the Plaintiffs chosen to walk out the door, their employment with the factory would have been forfeit.

While unpleasant choices are a part of the daily life of most human beings, the deliberate interference with someone else's right of self determination requires some form of power over the other person--whether that be physical power, economic power, or political power. Both criminal law and tort law are intended to protect individuals from others who would use their power abusively. The basic elements of the abuse of power are codified in case law and in statute. However, at the most fundamental level, society at large must determine what the words actually mean and what constitutes the abuse of power. For this reason the law has removed certain determinations from the province of the judge, and given them to the community, in the form of jurors.

The Defendants in this case arguably used the economic power they had over the Plaintiffs to require them to leave their work stations for over an hour, and enter the factory bathrooms one by one to be searched. Whether or not this use of the Defendants' economic power constitutes an abuse of that power, sufficient to substantially interfere with the Plaintiffs' liberty, is a question that must be determined by society, in the form of a jury. The trial court on this issue improperly held, as a matter of law, that because the Plaintiffs could have escaped merely by sacrificing

their continued employment, the Defendants' actions did not substantially interfere with the Plaintiffs' liberty.

This determination by the trial court also implies, as a matter of law, that the Defendants' use of their economic power over the Plaintiffs did not, and cannot, legally constitute the tortious abuse of power defined as Wrongful Detention. Because the Plaintiffs have established facts sufficient to support a finding by society that the Defendants abused their economic power over them and substantially interfered with their liberty, this cause of action should be reversed and remanded for trial.

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