1995

Walter Semidey v. Dot Adventures, Inc : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

DOT was and is a Nevada corporation, in good standing, doing business in Utah. While DOT did not obtain its Certificate Of Authority from the Utah Division Of Corporations until two weeks after the incident which is the subject matter of this action, DOT nonetheless was a corporation and the stockholders, officers and directors of the corporation were not personally liable for the obligations and/or debts of the corporation.

The trial court was correct in determining that Lynton, as a stockholder, officers and director was not personally liable to the Plaintiffs for the alleged actions of Esquivel, the plant manager.

Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate that they had admissible testimony or evidence which could establish each essential element required to present a *prima facie* case, in regard to each cause of action, at trial.

In addition, Plaintiffs failed to raise an issue of a material fact which would preclude the trial court from granting Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

PLAINTIFFS' FIRST AND FOURTH CAUSES OF ACTION SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

Unlawful detention, a criminal offense, is not the basis for a civil cause of action.

The Utah Code Ann. §76-5-304 provides as follows:

⁶⁶ Exhibit 6, Memorandum Decision filed May 25, 1995, R 696-685

⁶⁷ Exhibit 3, Order filed July 14, 1995, R 703-701

- (1) A person commits unlawful detention if he knowingly restrains another unlawfully so as to interfere substantially with his liberty.
- (2) Unlawful detention is a class B misdemeanor.

"Unlawful Detention," under the Utah Code Annotated, §76-5-304, is a crime, but the Utah Criminal Code does not establish a civil liability or a civil penalty. In order to establish "false imprisonment" a person must demonstrate that force or the threat of force coupled with a reasonable apprehension of the use of force were utilized to detain or restrain the person.

In Mildon v. Bybee, 13 Utah 2d 400, 375 P.2d 458 (1962), a claim of malicious prosecution was made against a Deputy Sheriff, who, armed with a warrant of arrest for one person, mistakenly took another into custody and drove away with him in the officer's car. In reviewing a directed verdict of no cause of action, the Utah Supreme Court equated false imprisonment with unlawful detention and stated:

Nevertheless, false imprisonment occurs whenever there is an unlawful detention or restraint of another against his will.
(Id. at 459.)

In Hepworth v. Covey Bros. Amusement Co., 97 Utah 205, 91 P.2d 507, the Utah Supreme Court said:

We wish to invite attention to a distinction in the law which we believe has been confused in the briefs. False arrest may be committed only by one who has legal authority to arrest or who has pretended legal authority to arrest. False imprisonment may be committed by anyone who imprisons without a legal right. . . .

"Any exercise of force, or express or implied threat of force, by which in fact the other person is deprived of his liberty, compelled to remain where he does not wish to remain or go where he does not wish to go, is an imprisonment. * * * The essential thing is the restraint of the person. * * * If the words or conduct are such as to induce a reasonable apprehension of force, and the means of coercion are at hand, a person may be as effectually restrained and deprived of liberty as by prison bars. * * *" 11 R.C.L. 793, 794, sec. 5.

(Id. at 509.)

In order for the restraint to be "unlawful", the restraint must be imposed with force or with the threat of force coupled with a reasonable apprehension that force will be used if the person being restrained does not comply.

Plaintiffs' Brief relies upon and cites Hepworth,⁶⁸ and argues that "there was no evidence or force, other than the authority of the floorwalkers and their police uniforms."⁶⁹ However, in Hepworth, a city police officer, in uniform searched Hepworth, arrested Hepworth and told him that if he didn't accompany the police officer and cooperate, the police officer would take Hepworth to the police station to book him. Plaintiffs' Memorandum urges the Court to believe that Hepworth, who was arrested, by a policeman in uniform, was not restrained by force or threat of force. However, a person who has been arrested, must presume that he is held by force or threat of force. Hepworth does not support Plaintiffs' argument that whether Plaintiffs were restrained by force is a jury question because in the case at hand, the Plaintiffs were not arrested by a policeman in uniform.

Hepworth relies upon the assumption that false arrest automatically gives rise to a presumption of false imprisonment. Hepworth at page 509 says: "False arrest is merely one means of committing a false imprisonment."

In the case at hand, in order to establish a *prima facie* case, the Plaintiffs must demonstrate, as a matter of fact, that they were "unlawfully detained." According to the rule of law in Hepworth cited above, the Plaintiffs must demonstrate that they were restrained and deprived of liberty by force or the threat and a reasonable apprehension of force.

The depositions of the Plaintiffs demonstrate that no Plaintiff was detained or restrained by force or the threat of force. When asked if anyone had locked the

⁶⁸ Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief, pgs. 21-22

⁶⁹ Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief, pg. 22

doors so she could not leave or if anyone had used threatening words, Mazariegos' response was: "No."⁷⁰

Plaintiffs' First Cause of Action is for "Wrongful Detention"⁷¹ and in support thereof the Complaint alleges that Defendant Esquivel unlawfully detained the Plaintiffs. In the trial court's detailed Memorandum Decision, the court noted the fact that the doors remained unlocked. The court further noted that Plaintiffs had no evidence against Defendants of any threat or force to detain the Plaintiffs.⁷² Plaintiffs had no evidence that "defendants substantially interfered with plaintiffs' liberty. Plaintiffs knew the location of an exit and made no attempt to leave."⁷³

The Plaintiffs' Fourth Cause of Action is for "False Imprisonment"⁷⁴ and in support thereof the Complaint alleges that Defendant Esquivel "unlawfully detained" the Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs' First and Fourth Causes of action against the Defendants, are one and the same.

The only evidence provided to the trial court demonstrated that no force or threat of force was used and any of the Plaintiffs could have left at any time. The Trial Court observed:

17. As to plaintiffs' fourth cause of action, false imprisonment, the Court again finds no evidence that plaintiffs were confined. Plaintiffs were aware of an exit, and plaintiffs were not physically restrained. Plaintiffs did not attempt to discover whether the door was locked and did not attempt to leave. The Court further finds that defendants did not falsely imprison plaintiffs by any threat of force. . . .⁷⁵

Plaintiffs argue that they chose not to leave the premises because they didn't want to lose their jobs.⁷⁶ The argument made by Plaintiffs that they chose not to

⁷⁰ Exhibit 19, Deposition of Rosa Mazariegos, dated April, 19, 1994, pg. 28, lines 13-18

⁷¹ Exhibit 1, Plaintiffs' Amended complaint filed June 13, 1994, R 107-99, at R 105, paras 15-17

⁷² Exhibit 6, Memorandum Decision filed May 25, 1995, R 696-685, at R 689-688, at R 692, para. 8

⁷³ Exhibit 6, Memorandum Decision filed May 25, 1995, R 696-685, at R 689-688, at R 692, para. 15

⁷⁴ Exhibit 1, Plaintiffs' Amended complaint filed June 13, 1994, R 107-99, at R 104, paras 30-32

⁷⁵ Exhibit 6, Memorandum Decision filed May 25, 1995, R 696-685, at R 689-688, at R 688, para. 17

⁷⁶ Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief, pg. 12

leave, constitutes an admission that the Plaintiffs were free to leave, they simply chose not to leave.

Plaintiffs did not have a *prima facie* case of wrongful detention or false imprisonment. The trial court was correct in determining that Plaintiffs' lacked the evidence required to establish the essential elements of a case of wrongful detention or false imprisonment and the two causes of action should have been dismissed.

POINT 2
PLAINTIFFS' SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ASSAULT
AND PLAINTIFFS' THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BATTERY
MUST BE DISMISSED.

An "assault" requires a threat of force and bodily harm coupled with a wrongful act.

In 6A C.J.S. Assault & Battery §2, at pages 316-317, the definition of assault is as follows:

An assault may be defined as any intentional, unlawful offer of corporal injury to another by force, or force unlawfully directed toward the person of another, under such circumstances as create a well founded fear of imminent peril, coupled with the apparent present ability to effectuate the attempt if not prevented. Also the term has been defined as an unlawful attempt, coupled with the present ability, to commit a violent injury on the person of another; an attempt or offer, with force or violence, to do a corporal hurt to another, whether from malice or wantonness, under such circumstances as denote, at the time, an intention to do it, coupled with a present ability to effectuate such intention.

In State v. Barkas, 91 Utah 574, 65 P.2d 1130 (1937) the Utah Supreme Court, in accord with the foregoing definition stated:

It is too elemental to require argument, that to point a loaded revolver at another to frighten or wound him constitutes an assault . . .
(Id. at 1132.)

To constitute an "assault" there must be a wrongful act. In 6A C.J.S. Assault & Battery §8, at pg. 328, citing the Utah case of Ganaway v. Salt Lake Dramatic Association, 17 Utah 37, 53 P. 830, the following comment is found:

There can, however, be no assault or assault and battery without a wrongful act. It is not every touching or laying on of hands that constitutes an assault and battery; to gently touch another for the purpose of doing a lawful act does not amount to an assault and battery; the touching of, or injury to, another must be done in an angry, revengeful, rude, or insolent manner so as to render the act unlawful. Similarly, an accidental hurt, in which the actor is blameless, does not amount to a battery.

A cause of action for battery is based upon an allegation and the establishment of intent, malice, anger, etc. In 6A C.J.S. Assault & Battery §8, at pg. 329 the following is found:

Generally, intent is an essential element in an action for assault and battery. More precisely, it is the rule that intent is the gist of the action only where the battery was committed in the performance of an act not otherwise unlawful; or as it is sometimes stated, there is no assault and battery unless the touching was with intent to injure, or unless defendant was otherwise engaged in a trespass or other unlawful transaction at the time of the act complained of. . . .

There can, however, be no assault or assault and battery without a wrongful act. . . .

Utah is in accord with the common law cited above to the effect that there must be intent to injure or harm in order to constitute an assault or a battery. In Morgan v. Pistone, 25 Utah 2d 63, 475 P.2d 839 (1970), the Utah Supreme Court held that a doctor who touched a minor, young lady neighbor, to emphasize his point of view was not guilty of an assault or battery. The Court stated:

Plaintiff, a minor female at the time of the alleged terrifying touching, and an adult at time of the trial, said one thing, and defendant, an adult male, said another, i.e., that he touched simply to call attention by way of explanation that he, a doctor, disliked the degradation attendant on plaintiff's repeated suggestions that his role in society best could be described by the sound of a duck. . . .

On such highly emotional and controversial evidence the jury apparently believed the doctor was put upon with greater force and vigor, by the plaintiff's unkind, opprobrious epithets than was the plaintiff by the gentle touching designed only to warn, not to wound. Hence we cannot say that the jury erred in finding that there was not that kind of intentional touching amounting to a technical battery. (Id. at 839-840.)

In the case at hand, Plaintiff's Complaint, Second Cause of Action for Assault does not allege a wrongful act or the threat of bodily harm or violence. The Complaint alleges:

27. By requiring that all employees submit to a physical search of their person and belongings before being allowed to leave the premises, Mr. Esquivel intentionally created in all non-supervisory employees the reasonable apprehension of harmful or offensive touching.⁷⁷

Absent an allegation, supported by testimony or evidence that Defendant Esquivel engaged in any threats and/or acts of bodily harm or violence, the Plaintiffs' Second Cause of Action for assault must be dismissed.

Plaintiff's Complaint, Third Cause of Action for Battery does not allege an intent to injure or harm. The Complaint alleges:

29. By requiring all supervisors to physically search the person and property of all employees, Mr. Esquivel intentionally caused the harmful or offensive touching of all non-supervisory employees.⁷⁸

As to Plaintiffs cause of action for "battery," Mazariegos is the only Plaintiff who claims to have been touched. As to all the other Plaintiffs the cause of action for battery must be dismissed because they don't even claim to have been touched.

Mazariegos testified in her deposition that she was in fact touched, but not in such a way as to cause harm or injury.⁷⁹ The trial court observed:

⁷⁷ Exhibit 1, Plaintiffs' Amended complaint filed June 13, 1994, R 107-99, at R 103, para. 27

⁷⁸ Exhibit 1, Plaintiffs' Amended complaint filed June 13, 1994, R 107-99, at R 104, para. 21

⁷⁹ Exhibit 19, Deposition of Rosa Mazariegos, dated April, 19, 1994, pgs. 20, lines 15-25 and page 21, lines 1-2

16. As to plaintiffs' second and third causes of action, assault and battery, the Court does not find any evidence that defendants threatened plaintiffs with any violence or harm. According to the Model Utah Jury Instructions, intention to cause harmful or offensive contact or imminent apprehensions of such is one of the elements of assault. See M.U.J.I. 10.18 (Assault Elements). The Court finds no evidence that defendant Esquivel intended the search of plaintiffs to cause harmful or offensive contact, or to cause plaintiffs to be in imminent apprehension of such contact. In fact, the deposition testimony indicates that plaintiffs understood that defendant Esquivel intended the search to recover a fellow employee's stolen property. . . . The Court further finds no evidence that defendant Esquivel intended to cause acts of bodily harm or violence, and no evidence that Esquivel attempted to or threatened to cause injury or harm.⁸⁰

Absent an allegation, supported by testimony or evidence that Defendant Esquivel caused a touching of Mazariegos with an intent to injure or harm, or cause acts of bodily harm or violence, the Plaintiffs' Third Cause of Action must be dismissed against her and all the other Plaintiffs.

The trial court was correct in determining that Plaintiffs did not have evidence to establish the essential elements of a *prima facie* case of assault and battery.

Having determined that no assault or battery could be established, it was not necessary for the trial court to consider whether Plaintiffs suffered damages. Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief cites Hepworth v. Covey Bros. Amusement Co., 91 P.2d 507 (Utah 1939) and Jeppsen v. Jensen, 155 P.2d 429 (Utah 1916), as well as other cases,⁸¹ for the proposition that proof of damages is not required in order to recover nominal damages in assault and battery cases. Since no assault or battery was established by Plaintiffs, the matter never advanced to the issue of damages, and Plaintiffs' reliance upon the cases allowing nominal damages in assault and battery cases, is not well taken.

⁸⁰ Exhibit 6, Memorandum Decision filed May 25, 1995, R 696-685, at R 689-688, para. 16

⁸¹ Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief, pgs. 44-45

POINT NO. 3
PLAINTIFFS GAVE THEIR CONSENT TO BE TOUCHED, AND
CONSENT IS AN ABSOLUTE DEFENSE TO A CLAIM OF ASSAULT
AND BATTERY, AND PLAINTIFFS' SECOND AND THIRD CAUSES
OF ACTION MUST BE DISMISSED.

In 6A C.J.S. Assault & Battery §16, at pgs. 337-338 the defense of consent is set forth as follows:

It is a defense to an action for assault or an assault or battery that the injured party consented to, or participated in, the acts causing the injury, and such consent may be either express or implied. This is the rule at least in cases where life and limb are not exposed to serious danger in the common course of things, and where the damaged inflicted have not exceeded the bounds of the consent or invitation. . . .

It is a general rule that one cannot maintain an action for a wrong occasioned by an act to which he has consented, under the familiar maxim "*volenti non fit injurie*," except where the act involves the life or person, or a breach of the peace, or amounts to a public offense.⁸²

According to the Restatement of Torts:

- (1) Consent is willingness in fact for conduct to occur. It may be manifested by action or inaction and need not be communicated to the actor.
- (2) If words or conduct are reasonably understood by another to be intended as consent, they constitute apparent consent and are as effective as consent in fact.⁸³

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